Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

### Nano Today

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/nanotoday

### Review Advances in piezotronic transistors and piezotronics

### Longfei Wang<sup>a,b,c</sup>, Zhong Lin Wang<sup>a,b,c,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Beijing Institute of Nanoenergy and Nanosystems, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100083, PR China <sup>b</sup> School of Nanoscience and Technology, University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100049, PR China <sup>c</sup> School of Material Science and Engineering, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA 30332, United States

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 23 August 2020 Received in revised form 7 November 2020 Accepted 14 February 2021

Keywords: Piezoelectricity Piezotronic transistor Piezotronic effect Piezotronics Flexotronics Human-machine interaction

### ABSTRACT

Innovative technologies beyond or can augment the conventional metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS)-based technology to achieve adaptive and seamless interactions between electronics/machine and human/ambient are urgently needed for smart systems. Piezotronic transistors are a new type of devices designed using completely different principles from CMOS-based technology, which utilize inner-crystal piezoelectric potential as the gate controlling signal to control the electrical transport process, which have been widely demonstrated for the third-generation semiconductors (such as ZnO, GaN). Such devices are innovative in a way that the traditional external channel-width gating is replaced by an inner interface gating or inner channel-width gating. These nanodevices and integrated nanosystems show great potential to achieve complementary functionalities to the state-of-the-art CMOS technology. Coupling the piezo-electricity and the electrical transport process in piezoelectric semiconductors results in the emerging field of piezotronics, which show promises for advanced nano-electromechanical devices and micro/nano-electromechanical systems. This manuscript reviews the advances in piezotronic transistors, provides an overview of the development and gives in-depth understandings in the new area of piezotronics. A perspective is given about their further development and potential applications in energy harvesting, active electronics and intelligent sensing.

© 2021 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Intro	duction	. 2
2.	Fundamentals of piezotronic transistor and piezotronics		. 2
	2.1.	Piezopotential in piezoelectric semiconductors-the core of piezotronic transistor and piezotronics	. 2
	2.2.	Effect of piezopotential on metal-semiconductor (M-S) contact	. 2
	2.3.	Basic principles of piezotronic transistor and piezotronics	. 4
	2.4.	Materials system for piezotronic transistors and piezotronics	. 5
3.	Piezo	tronic transistors of the third-generation semiconductors and their applications	. 5
	3.1.	Taxel-addressable matrix of vertical-nanowire piezotronic transistors for active and adaptive tactile imaging	. 5
	3.2.	Nanoplatelet based piezotronic transistor array for high resolution tactile imaging	. 6
	3.3.	Nanoplatelet based double channel piezotronic transistor	. 6
	3.4.	Piezotronic transistor based on twin nanoplatelet for ultrahigh pressure sensitivity	. 7
	3.5.	Atomic thin piezotronic transistor for smart skin	. 9
	3.6.	2D piezotronics: interface gating and channel-width gating	. 10
4.	Comp	parison between traditional field effect transistor and piezotronic transistor	15
5.	Expai	nsion of piezotronic effect (piezotronics) to flexotronic effect (flexotronics)	16
	5.1.	Flexotronic effect and flexotronics in centrosymmetric semiconductors	. 16
	5.2.	Relationship between piezotronic effect and flexotronic effect	. 16

\* Corresponding author at: Beijing Institute of Nanoenergy and Nanosystems, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100083, PR China. *E-mail address:* zhong.wang@mse.gatech.edu (Z.L. Wang).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2021.101108 1748-0132/© 2021 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.







6.	Summary and outlook	. 16
	CRediT authorship contribution statement	. 20
	Declaration of Competing Interest	. 20
	Acknowledgements	. 20
	References	. 20

### 1. Introduction

The adaptive and seamless interactions between electronics (functional devices, machine, etc.) and human/ambience are essential for emerging technologies such as self-powered wearable electronics, human-machine interfacing, biomedical engineering, robotics, Internet of Things and artificial intelligence [1,2]. Although mechanical signals such as biological movements and vibration in ambient are abundant and ubiquitous in environment, however, it is not easy to interface them directly with the CMOSbased technology that relies on external gate control of charge carriers in semiconductor [3–6]. The most conventional method is to use sensors that are sensitive to changes in stress/strain. The mechanical signals can be detected and recorded by conventional CMOS-based technology, but they cannot be utilized to further control the electronics [7-10], which can be considered as passive electronics. Such pressure sensing not only needs complex integration of heterogeneous components, but also lacks direct and active interaction between electronic components and external mechanical stimuli. These limitations severely hinder the advancement and widespread use of electronic technologies to convert mechanical signal. Therefore, innovative designs and technologies are needed to adaptively and seamlessly combine the electronics with mechanical actuations.

Recently, utilizing piezoelectric semiconductors with wurtzite structures (ZnO [11-13], GaN etc.), a new kind of transistor, the piezotronic transistor has a two-terminal metal-semiconductormetal configuration was introduced by Wang and co-workers at 2008 and whose electronic transport is gated/controlled by the inner-crystal potential generated by stress/strain-induced piezoelectric polarization charges in the semiconductor at the metalsemiconductor contacts [14-19]. Such devices innovatively use interface piezoelectric potential gating instead of the external voltage channel-width gating in CMOS technology. Using digital signals directly generated by mechanical actuations to control electronics, piezotronic transistors can function as active nanodevices for great applications in self-powered tactile sensing, memory nanodevice, human-electronics interfacing etc [20-22]. The two-way coupling among piezoelectricity and semiconductorbased electronics in piezoelectric semiconductors under mechanical actuations results in the emerging field of piezotronics, which was first proposed by Wang and co-workers in 2007 [16,17]. The stress/strain induced piezoelectric polarization charges at semiconductor region can effectively modulate the metal-semiconductor Schottky barrier by making a huge influences on the concentration and distribution of free carriers at the contact, so as to control the electronic transport. This is well known as the piezotronic effect [23,24], of which the fundamental physics and practical potential applications has been elaborated and demonstrated in the past few years [25-28]. Here, we will review the advances in piezotronic transistors and piezotronics, in which milestone progress in the development of piezotronic transistors are systematically presented, in-depth understanding about piezotronics and the perspective of the field about their further developed and future applications are provided.

### 2. Fundamentals of piezotronic transistor and piezotronics

# 2.1. Piezopotential in piezoelectric semiconductors-the core of piezotronic transistor and piezotronics

Wurtzite-structured materials, such as ZnO, GaN etc., simultaneously have piezoelectricity and semiconducting property, that is, the piezoelectric semiconductors. The non-centrosymmetric structure in these crystals, for instance, the ZnO with a hexagonal structure (Fig. 1a, top), will generate piezoelectric property along c-axis direction. When subjected to axial stress/strain, piezoelectric polarization charges are generated at both surfaces within thickness of one to two atomic layers of the crystal along certain orientations. Simply, metal cations  $Zn^{2+}$  and anions  $O^{2-}$  are tetrahedral coordinated, in which the centers of positives ions and negative ions are overlapped with each other at strain free case. Upon a stress/stain along an apex of the tetrahedron, the centers of Zn<sup>2+</sup> cations and O<sup>2-</sup> anions are relatively displaced, which results in an electrical dipole moment (hence a piezoelectric polarization) (Fig. 1a, bottom). Since all units in ZnO have such a dipole moment under stress/strain, an electrical potential distribution called the piezopotential (piezoelectric potential) is macroscopically generated along the stress/strain direction (Fig. 1b). This is the piezoelectricity of ZnO along c-axis, which is usually the growth direction of ZnO nanowire/nanosheets [34,35]. Piezopotential generated by the stress/strain induced piezoelectric polarization charges in piezoelectric semiconductors form the basis of piezotronic transistor and piezotronics, which allows modulation of the electrical transport processes across the interface of metal-semiconductor Schottky contact under mechanical stimuli.

### 2.2. Effect of piezopotential on metal-semiconductor (M-S) contact

M-S contact is the fundamental construction in piezoelectric semiconductor based piezotronic devices. When metal and semiconductor come into contact, free charges near the junction will redistribute significantly and hence the Fermi levels of the M-S system reaches thermal equilibrium, forming either non-rectifying Ohmic contact or rectifying Schottky contact depending on their contact configurations [36]. For Schottky contact, a Schottky barrier would be induced with height  $(q\phi_{Bn})$  and width  $(W_{Bn})$ , which dominates the charge carriers transport across the M-S interface when reversely biased [37]. Upon applying the normal stress/strain, the piezoelectric polarization charges presented at M-S contact can effectively modulate the interface Schottky barrier by making a huge influence on the concentration and distribution of free carriers at the contact and hence control the charge carriers transport [23-28]. Here, we take n-type piezoelectric semiconductor as an example. For simplicity, the surface states, screen effect and other anomalies in the crystal are ignored and the M-S junction is at zero bias. In general, the negative piezoelectric polarization charges, and hence the negative piezopotential repels electrons from M-S interface, which results a further depleted region and increased Schottky barrier (Fig. 2a), whereas the positive piezoelectric polarization charges and hence the positive piezopotential attracts electrons



Fig. 1. Piezoelectricity in wurtzite semiconductors. a, Atomic model of the wurtzite-structured ZnO and the origin of piezoelectricity. b, Piezopotential distributed along ZnO nanowire under axial forces. Scanning electron microscope images of ZnO nanostructures: c,d, ZnO nanowire array. e, Radially grown ZnO nanowires around fine wires. f, ZnO nanospring. g, ZnO nanoring. h, Nanohelix formed by a single-crystal ZnO nanobelt. Copyright 2007 Materials Research Society. c,d, Reprinted with permission from [30]. Copyright 2007 Taylor & Francis. f, Reprinted with permission from [31]. Copyright 2004 Elsevier Ltd. g, Reprinted with permission from [32]. Copyright 2004 the American Association for the Advancement of Science. h, Reprinted with with permission from [33]. Copyright 2007 Materials Research Society.



**Fig. 2.** Piezopotential on metal-semiconductor (n-type) contacts. a, Stress-induced negative piezoelectric polarization charges (and hence the negative piezopotential) at M-S interface increase the Schottky barrier height. b, Stress-induced positive piezoelectric polarization charges (and hence the positive piezopotential) at the M-S interface decrease the Schottky barrier height.



**Fig. 3.** Schematics of (a) an n-channel MOSFET and (b) a field-effect transistor (FET). Schematics of piezotronic transistors with (c) tensile stress and (d) compressive stress. Reprinted with permission from [23]. Copyright 2011 WILEY-VCHVerlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim.

towards the M-S interface, which results a less depleted contact and hence decreased Schottky barrier (Fig. 2b). The magnitude and polarity of the piezopotential within a piezoelectric semiconductor depend on the crystallographic orientation of the crystal and the magnitude and polarity of the applied stress/strain. The above is the basis of piezotronic effect, which has been widely demonstrated in wurtzite-structured semiconductors (ZnO, GaN *etc.*).

According to the theory [23,24,36,37], the ideal SBH without external stress/strain can be given by:

$$q\phi_{Bn} = W_m - \chi, \tag{1}$$

where  $W_m$  is the work function of metal, and  $\chi$  is the affinity energy of semiconductor. The piezotronic effect under finite uniform strain can be considered as a perturbation. For n-type ZnO nanowire, the stress/strain induced piezoelectric polarization is given by:

$$P_z = e_{33}s_{33} = q\rho_{piezo}W_{piezo} \tag{2}$$

where  $\rho_{piezo}$  is the density of piezoelectric polarization charges and  $W_{piezo}$  denotes the corresponding distribution width of piezoelectric polarization charges. Then we can derive the modified barrier height given by:

$$q\phi_{Bn} = q\phi_{Bn} - \frac{q^2 \rho_{piezo} W_{piezo}^2}{2\varepsilon_s}.$$
(3)

where  $\varepsilon_s$  is the dielectric constant of semiconductor. Therefore, we can modulate the SBH via external applied stress/strain. According to the diffusion theory, the electrical transport across the Schottky junction is given by:

$$J_n = J_D \left[ \exp\left(\frac{qV}{k_B T}\right) - 1 \right].$$
(4)

Here,  $J_D$  is the saturation current density, expressed as:

$$J_D = \frac{q^2 D_n N_c}{k_B T} \sqrt{\frac{2q N_D (\psi_{bi} - V)}{\varepsilon_s}} \exp\left(-\frac{q \phi_{Bn}}{k_B T}\right),\tag{5}$$

Where  $D_n$  is the electron diffusion coefficient,  $N_C$  is the effective density of states in the conduction band,  $k_B$  is the Boltzmann constant, T is the temperature, is the donor concentration, and  $\psi_{bi}$  is the built-in potential. By replacing  $q\phi_{Bn}$  with  $q\phi_{Bn}$  under external stress/ strain, we can obtain the current density, given by:

$$J_n = J_D \exp\left(\frac{q e_{33} s_{33} W_{piezo}}{2\varepsilon_s k_B T}\right) \left[\exp\left(\frac{q V}{k_B T}\right) - 1\right].$$
(6)

Therefore, the above arguments present a qualitative explanation of the piezotronic effect. The stress/strain-induced piezoelectric polarization charges can effectively modulate the Schottky barrier and exponentially tune/gate the current density across the contact, depending on the magnitude and polarity of the applied local stress/strain (compressive or tensile) [23,24].

### 2.3. Basic principles of piezotronic transistor and piezotronics

Piezotronic transistors are a new type of device with a typical two-terminal configuration of metal-semiconductor-metal (M-S-M) structure (Fig. 3c, d) [23]. Piezotronic transistors are designed using different principles from CMOS devices (Fig. 3a, b), which use innercrystal piezopotential generated by stress/strain-induced piezoelectric polarization charges at the contact in semiconductor region as the gate voltage to control the charge carriers transport across the M-S junction. Such two-terminal transistors are innovative in a way that the electrical channel-width gating is replaced by interface polarization gating.

When a strain is induced in a piezotronic transistor, there are two main effects that may affect the electrical transport characteristics of the device. One of them is the piezoresistive effect [38,39], resulting from the stress/strain-induced changes in bandgap, charge carrier density and density of states in the conduction band of a semiconductor. However, the piezoresistive effect is a volume effect without polarity, and hence is not the dominant effect of a piezotronic transistor. Piezoresistive effect is widely exist in semiconductors, such as Si and GaAs based firstand second-generation semiconductors, which is not limited to the ZnO and GaN based third-generation semiconductors. The other effect is the piezotronic effect, which has an asymmetric modulate effect on the M-S contacts at the source and drain due to the polarity of the inner-crystal piezoelectric polarization. The piezoelectric polarization charges presented at the ends of a piezoelectric semiconductor, can directly affect the barrier of M-S contacts. The polarity of the piezopotential in a semiconductor can be switched by changing the sign of applied stress/strain (Fig. 3c, d). Therefore, the piezotronic transistor can be gated from a control at one side to another contact simply by reversing the sign of stress/strain applied to the device. The coupling of piezoelectricity and electronic transport characteristics in piezoelectric semiconductors results in the emerging field of piezotronics (Fig. 4). Using inner-crystal piezopotential generated by the piezoelectric polarization charges as a 'gate' controlling signal to modulate the interfacing barrier and achieve tunable electronic processes is the piezotronics [16,21-28], which can be considered as active electronics. By directly generating digital signals to control electronics using mechanical actuations without the need for external gate electrode, piezotronic effect shows promise for intelligent electronic nanodevices and nanosystems.



Fig. 4. Coupling the piezoelectricity and the semiconducting property resulting in the emerging field of piezotronics.

### 2.4. Materials system for piezotronic transistors and piezotronics

The third-generation semiconductors, represented by wide bandgap ZnO and GaN (Fig. 1c), are ideal materials for piezotronic transistors and piezotronics due to their wide bandgap, semiconducting property and strong piezoelectricity along c-axis, which provides ideal platforms for exploring the fundamental coupling between the piezoelectricity and other interesting physical processes, for instances, (high-frequency) electronic transport, photoexcitation and two-dimensional (2D) electron gas in related piezotronic devices [22,28,40]. Additionally, the third-generation semiconductors have attracted great attention for some emerging technologies, such as consumer electronics and information products, 5G communication systems, electric vehicles, optoelectronics and even defense and security applications, due to their superior material properties such as high-voltage resistance, high-temperature resistance, high-switching frequency and high-radiation resistance [28,41]. The fundamental research and development of piezotronic effect and piezotronics (including piezotronic transistors) of the third-generation semiconductors will be promoted and advanced by the commercial feasibility and maturity of related technological processes in manufacturing and integrating these materials, and can also in turn promote related emerging technologies based on these materials [28,41]. Furthermore, 2D materials (especially the monolayer or odd-layer transition-metal dichalcogenides, TMDCs) exhibit strong piezoelectricity due to their non-centrosymmetric structures. High crystallinity, superior semiconducting and excellent mechanical property of 2D TMDCs shows promise as high performance piezotronic materials for atomically thin piezotronic transistors and piezotronics [42].

# **3.** Piezotronic transistors of the third-generation semiconductors and their applications

### 3.1. Taxel-addressable matrix of vertical-nanowire piezotronic transistors for active and adaptive tactile imaging

In above sections, we have reviewed the fundamentals of piezotronic transistors, piezotronic effect and piezotronics. Here, we focus on the new trend in the researches of piezotronic transistors and their applications.

Wang's team conducted two independent studies in 2006. One is the piezoelectric field effect transistor (PE-FET) and another is the piezoelectric-diode (PE-diode), which are the prototype of piezotronic transistor [14,15]. The first piezotronic transistor was proposed by Zhou, Wang and co-workers in 2008 [18], of which a ZnO nanowire was laterally bonded on a polystyrene substrate. Bending of the substrate can stretch or compress the nanowire, resulting in the piezoelectric polarization charges at two back-to-back Schottky contacts, and hence to modulate the electrical transport characteristics of the nanodevice. This kind of horizontal piezotronic transistor has been widely used in flexible electronics and optoelectronics. Another latterly developed vertical piezotronic transistors or piezotronic transistor array are more conductive for stress detection, particularly for tactile imaging with high resolution. This idea of applying high-density vertical piezotronic transistors for tactile imaging was first proposed by Han, Wang and co-workers in 2012, and first achieved by Wu, Wen and Wang in 2013, which opens a new chapter of piezotronic transistor and piezotronics in the field of tactile sensing (from nanoscience to nanotechnology) [43,44].

The basic structure of a 3D strain-gated vertical piezotronic transistor consists of a vertically grown piezoelectric nanowire (ZnO, CdS, etc.) in contact with bottom and top electrodes. Owing to the noncentrosymmetric wurtzite structure, a piezopotential can be induced along the ZnO nanowire when it is subjected to external mechanical deformation, which can be used as the driving stimuli or gate signal to tune the electrical transport properties across the interface between the nanowires and the electrodes (Fig. 5a). The two-terminal configuration and interface gating mechanism of piezotronic transistor offer a new approach for 3D structuring. The 3D taxel-addressable matrix of vertical-nanowire piezotronic transistor arrays are made of a largescale integrated circuit basing on 92×92 3D strain-gated vertical piezotronic transistors arrays for tactile imaging [43]. Each vertically aligned ZnO nanowire cluster based piezotronic transistor array is an active basic unit as well as a tactile pixel (Fig. 5b, c). By using this active nanodevice, self-powered tactile imaging has been achieved with a high spatial resolution of ~100  $\mu$ m, a response time of ~0.15 s and a high-pressure sensitivity of ~2.1  $\mu$ S/kPa. The pressure sensing range can be varied from kPa to 30 kPa, which matches well with people's pressure perception range (10-40 kPa) [44,45]. Such device not only can realize shape-adaptive tactile imaging but also can achieve multidimensional active sensing by measuring the current change of output signals of each taxel (Fig. 5d). Furthermore, the devices can be integrated on a large scale on the flexible substrate for smart skin (Fig. 5e). The simplification of the matrix integration paves the way for the development of functional large-scale intelligent sensors. It's worth noting here, the authors also carefully clarify the



**Fig. 5.** Taxel-addressable matrix of vertical-nanowire piezotronic Transistors. a, Strain-gated piezotronic transistor based on a vertically aligned ZnO nanowire. b, Illustration of the taxel-addressable matrix of vertical-nanowire piezotronic transistor arrays. c, Topological profile image of the piezotronic transistors arrays and a scanning electron microscopy (SEM) image of an individual taxel. d, Tactile imaging by the fully integrated 92 × 92 piezotronic transistors arrays. e, Photograph of taxel-addressable matrix of vertical-nanowire piezotronic transistors.

d, Reprinted with permission from [43]. Copyright 2013 the American Association for the Advancement of Science. e, Reprinted with permission from [27]. Copyright 2016 Nature Publishing Group.

dominant role of the functional devices, which is piezotronic effect other than piezoresistive effect.

The 3D matrix can be used as self-powered and active tactile sensors by directly converting mechanical actions into digital control signals with no need for external gate voltage. The 3D piezotronic transistors arrays show promise for human-machine interfacing and micro /nanoelectromechanical systems.

### 3.2. Nanoplatelet based piezotronic transistor array for high resolution tactile imaging

Buckling effect is a common phenomenon in micro/nanowires, resulting in a weaken piezotronic effect. As shown in Fig. 6a, the nanowire will bend under compressive stress with an offset  $(\Delta l)$  to the center of nanowire. By finite-element analysis, the lateral bend deflection  $(D_{max})$  can be found to be more than ten times larger than the vertical deformation when the aspect ratio is as high as 50 [46,47]. Due to the buckling effect in nanowire, the piezoelectric polarization charges generated at the ends of nanowire will be uneven, which has a negative influence on the piezotronic effect and in turn decrease the sensitivity of a piezotronic transistor. To eliminate the buckling effect and enhance the sensitivity of a piezotronic transistor, 2D ZnO nanoplatelet based piezotronic transistor (2DPT) with high pressure sensitivity was successfully developed (Fig. 6b) [46]. The ZnO nanoplatelet possesses an aspect ratio of about 0.42 with a smaller upper surface and larger bottom surface, and hence the buckling effect can be effectively avoided when the device under external applied stress/strain [46,47]. As increase the compressive stresses from 0.02 to 3.64 MPa, the I-V characteristics gradually changes from asymmetric Schottky characteristics to symmetrical Ohmic characteristics, which indicates a gradually decreased Schottky barrier height with increased compressive pressures. The M-S Schottky contact and hence the electronic transport of the 2DPT can be gated effectively by the stress-induced inner-crystal

piezopotential (Fig. 6c–f). High pressure sensitivity of ZnO 2DPT has been obtained of 60.97–78.23 meV/MPa, which is nearly three orders of magnitude larger than that of single ZnO nanowire based piezotronic transistor. The gauge factor of 2DPT can even reach ~ $1.5 \times 10^7$ , which is the highest one among previous studies [46]. Moreover, the 2DPT can be used as a tactile sensor with a wide pressure detection range (a few kPa to ~MPa) and may have great application in smart skin. The special 2D geometry and the strong piezoelectricity of ZnO nanoplatelet are the keys to the ultrahigh pressure sensitivity of 2DPT.

Additionally, 2D piezotronic transistor array was developed using the self-assembly method and micro-fabrication techniques (Fig. 7a, b). The pixel area density of the self-assembly 2DPT array is about  $2.9 \times 10^7$  $cm^{-2}$ , which corresponds to a resolution of 12,700 dpi. It is about 50 times higher than the resolution of the 3D matrix of vertical-nanowire piezotronic transistors array (8464 cm<sup>-2</sup>) and much higher than that of mechanoreceptors implanted in the skin of human fingertip (~240 cm<sup>-2</sup>). The ZnO 2DPT array responds well to the static and dynamic stimuli and distinct changes can be obtained for all pixels before and after external applied forces (Fig. 7c). Based on the 2DPT array, an "encode-decode" process that converts the digital series (314159265358) representing the input pressure signal into the corresponding digital sequence of the output electrical signal was exhibited (Fig. 7d). The spatial distribution of all applied mechanical stimuli can be distinguished and electronically mapped with high resolution. The study demonstrates the great advantage of ZnO 2DPT array as a fundamental component of piezotronics and its potential for future e-skin application.

### 3.3. Nanoplatelet based double channel piezotronic transistor

Among previous reports, piezotronic transistors are usually threedimensional, with a piezoelectric semiconductor nanowire sandwiched between the top and bottom electrodes, in which only one M-S contact plays an effective regulatory role (the reverse-biased Schottky contact), while the other has an opposite modulate effect [43,46,48–52]. Thus, the sensitivity of those devices can be further enhanced through innovative design on the structure. Moreover, the structural reliability of the single channel based piezotronic transistor is relative poor, because when the channel failure (for instance, the Schottky contact changes into an Ohmic contact), the device cannot work. To achieve large-scale vertical piezotronic transistor array with more reliability and enhanced sensitivity, the double-channel piezotronic transistor (DCPT) based ZnO nanoplatelet with high pressure-sensitivity and high structural reliability was designed and developed [53].

The DCPT has double Schottky contacts formed between the two bottom metal electrodes and the bottom surface of ZnO nanoplatelet, and hence a planar compatible structure is realized by replacing the 3D sandwiched structure with a two-layer planar structure (Fig. 8a). Owing to design of double channels, the DCPT can still work normally even if there is a problem with one channel, resulting in a high structural stability. The band diagrams of DCPT with and without strains are detailed the working mechanism (Fig. 8b). When applied compressive stress/strain, positive piezoelectric polarization charges presented at the interfaces of both M-S Schottky contacts owing to the symmetric structure of DCPT, which can symmetrically reduce the Schottky barriers and thus symmetrically increase the electronic transport of the device (Fig. 8c).

The DCPT can also response well to external dynamic stimuli with high pressure sensitivity (Fig. 8d–f). In order to eliminate the influence of contact barrier, the dynamic response of DCPT under increased pressures from 0.75 to 1.00 MPa with a step of 63.5 kPa was recorded. The pressure sensitivity ( $S = \Delta_{SBH}/\Delta_{Pressure}$ ) is obtained from the linear fitting curve, which is up to 84.2–104.4 meV/MPa and

even higher than that the highest value of 2DPT reported in the above section [53]. The main factor that enhances the pressuresensitivity is the double channel regulation mechanism, which results in a more effectively modulate on the Schottky barrier of both M-S contacts.

Moreover, a kind of integrated DCPTs has been easily developed by the existing planar micro-fabrication technology, which benefits from its planar compatible structure (Fig. 9). The device manufacturing involves two steps. First, perform a large-scale self-assembly of ZnO nanoplatelets on a silicon wafer which can be at least 4 in.. Second, use semi-dry PDMS to transfer ZnO nanoplatelet array to a substrate with interdigitated electrodes. The structural reliability and high pressure-sensitivity of the integrated DCPTs show promise for applications in touch sensing technology and humanmachine interfacing.

### 3.4. Piezotronic transistor based on twin nanoplatelet for ultrahigh pressure sensitivity

To further enhance the pressure sensitivity of a piezotronic transistor, novel approaches or designs are needed to enable the more effectively modulation of stress/strain on M-S Schottky barrier. Based on this original idea, a new kind of ZnO twin nanoplatelet based piezotronic transistor (TNPT) was developed [54]. The TNPT has a sandwich structure composed of a ZnO twin nanoplatelet, a top and a bottom electrode (Fig. 10a). The new type of ZnO twin nanoplatelets were synthesized by hydrothermal method with a hexagonal geometry and a mirror symmetric structure (Fig. 10b). As one of the most important factors of piezotronic transistor, the piezoelectricity



**Fig. 6.** 2D ZnO piezotronic transistor (2DPT). a, Buckling effect in vertical ZnO nanowire. The  $r_0$ , h and  $D_{max}$  represent radius, height and the maximal lateral deflection of the nanowire. b, Schematic illustration of 2DPT. c, Band diagram used to explain the working mechanism of 2DPT. d, Electronic transport of 2DPT as a function of pressures. e, Current (*I*) presented in semilog form versus  $(-V_{rev})^{1/4}$ . f, Changes of Schottky barrier height (SBH) as a function of applied pressure. Reprinted with permission from [46]. Copyright 2017 WILEY-VCHVerlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim.

Nano Today 37 (2021) 101108





Fig. 7. Tactile imaging by the 2DPT array. a, Schematic illustration of 2DPT array. b, SEM image of ZnO array. c, Conductance measurement of each 2DPT. d, Using 2DPT array to achieve an "Encode-Decode" process that converts the digital series (the input pressure signal) into the corresponding digital sequence (output electrical signal). Reprinted with permission from [46]. Copyright 2017 WILEY-VCHVerlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim.

(effective piezoelectric coefficient  $d_{33}$ ) of the ZnO nanoplatelet and the ZnO twin nanoplatelet was characterized by piezo-response force microscopy (PFM) (Fig. 10b). The  $d_{33}$  of ZnO nanoplatelet that can be considered as half part of the twin nanoplatelet, is about 18–22.5 pm/V, indicating that it has strong piezoelectricity, whereas the value of ZnO

twin nanoplatelet is small enough to be negligible, which further demonstrates its mirror symmetric structure. With the unique mirror symmetric geometry and the relative strong piezoelectricity, ZnO twin nanoplatelet is an excellent candidate piezoelectric semiconductor for ultrasensitive piezotronic transistor.



**Fig. 8.** ZnO based Double channel piezotronic transistor (DCPT). a, Schematic illustration of DCPT. b, Band diagram of DCPT without (blue dashed line) and with (red solid line) strain/stress illustrates the working mechanism. c, Pressure-dependent *I-V* characteristics. d, ln(*I*) vs *V*<sup>1/4</sup>. e, Changes of Schottky barrier height (SBH). f, Current response to dynamic stimuli with increasing pressures from 0.75 to 1.00 MPa with a step of 63.5 kPa.(For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

Reprinted with permission from [53]. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.

When apply a normal compressive strain or stress, an axial strain can be induced in ZnO twin nanoplatelet. Owing to the non-centrosymmetric crystal structure and the mirror symmetric geometry of ZnO twin nanoplatelet, piezopotentials are generated distributed along the ZnO twin nanoplatelet with positive piezoelectric polarization charges presenting at the top and bottom surfaces, which can simultaneously reduce the Schottky barriers of source and drain and dramatically enhance the electrical transport performance of TNPT. Thus, the charge carrier transport across the Schottky junction can be gated effectively by the strain/stress induced positive piezoelectric polarization charges (Fig. 10c). An ultrasensitive piezotronic transistor is therefore introduced with the dual Schottky junctions' synergistic modulation. The electrical transport property of TNPT under various static compressive stresses was characterized. (Fig. 10d) The current significantly increases as the pressure increased, and the I-V curve gradually changes from the Schottky characteristics to the Ohmic characteristics, which indicates that the pressure-induced positive piezoelectric polarization charges effectively decreases the dual Schottky barriers.

Besides, the current responses under dynamic stress/strain have also been characterized, which demonstrates a high sensitivity of pressure change at low pressure region (from ~kPa to hundreds of kPa). It shows promise of TNPT for tactile sensing applications such as smart skin and human-machine interface (Fig. 10e). A ultrahigh pressure sensitivity of 1448.08–1677.53 meV/MPa has been achieved, which is the highest value among all previous studies and is ~50 times larger than that of the 3D matrix of vertical-nanowire piezotronic transistor array and more than 20 times than that of 2DPT (Fig. 10f) [43,46,54]. The key to achieving the ultrasensitive piezotronic transistor is the mechanism of dual Schottky barriers' synergistic modulation by using ZnO twin nanoplatelet with strong piezoelectricity and mirror structure, which is the core of TNPT.

### 3.5. Atomic thin piezotronic transistor for smart skin

The continuous miniaturization of Si-based microelectronics is the fundamental driving force of the information technology revolution. However, the fabrication of sub-5 nm Si transistor is



Fig. 9. Schematic showing the integrated ZnO nanoplatelet pressure sensor and its fabrication process. Reprinted with permission from [53]. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.

extremely challenging because the electrostatic gate control on the channel may lose effectiveness [55–59]. Therefore, exploration of new channel materials beyond Si and new operation mechanism are of utmost interest.

Atomic thin ZnO piezotronic transistor with a ~2-nm physical channel length was developed by utilizing the self-generated piezopotential in ZnO nanosheet to gate the transistor (Fig. 12a), which breaks the 5-nm limit for transistors reported in literatures [60]. The single crystal p-ZnO nanosheets were synthesized by water-air method [61]. The morphology of ZnO nanosheet is a single triangular with thickness of  $\sim 2 \text{ nm}$  and edges of  $\sim 10-40 \text{ µm}$  (Fig. 11a-c). The out-of-plane piezoelectricity of ZnO nanosheet was investigated by PFM (Fig. 11d-i), from which the effective piezoelectric coefficient  $(d_{eff})$  of ZnO nanosheet was obtained as high as ~23.7 pm/V (Fig. 11j). It has been reported that, under weak nano-indentation, the tip-surface junction and a high dielectric constant of sample lead to a significant potential drop between the tip and surface, and hence the piezoelectric coefficient  $(d_{33})$  is approximated twice larger than the measured  $d_{eff}$  [62]. These results demonstrate the strong outof-plane piezoelectricity of ZnO nanosheet and its potential for atomic thin piezotronic device.

The electrical transport characteristics of atomic thin ZnO piezotronic transistor were characterized. For the atomic thin device, the current gradually increases under forward bias, whereas decreases under revised bias under compressive stresses (Fig. 12b). The stress/strain gated asymmetric behavior indicates that the dominant role is the piezotronic effect. The working principle of atomic thin ZnO piezotronic transistor is illustrated in Fig. 12c. When subjected to axial stress, strong piezoelectric polarization field can be induced within ZnO nanosheet due to its atomic thin and strong out-of-plane piezoelectricity, which has a huge influence on the concentration and distribution of free carriers of all region of ZnO nanosheet as well as on the distribution of electronic charges at metal-ZnO interfaces. Thus, the stress-induced inner piezoelectric polarization field can directly modulate the Au-ZnO Schottky barriers, so as to effectively control the electrical transport characteristics.

The atomic thin ZnO piezotronic transistor can respond well to the periodically switched stress with a fast response time of ~3 ms (Fig. 12d), which demonstrates that the modulate effect of the mechanical actions on carrier transport is reversible. The device can work as an on/off switch transistor, in which the current flowed through it can be controlled by external stimuli. In other words, applying a compressive strain can enhance the carrier transport, while removing it can decrease the current to its original state. This kind of stress-controlled on/off switch can be functioned as an atomic thin piezotronic logic circuit. The reliability and stability of the atomic thin transistor are also demonstrated by applying repeated on/off cycles, in which the response exhibited no obvious degradation. Such device shows strong piezotronic effect and offers the ultimate scaling of thickness with atomic-level control by external stimuli. The atomic thin nature of ZnO and the two-terminal configuration of the piezotronic transistor realize the study of physics of inner-crystal piezopotential control at ultra-short channel, which is still a challenge at scale of a few nanometers in traditional COMS technology. This work exhibits the effectiveness of the piezotronic effect at nanometer scale, with great potential for applications in human-machine interfacing and nano-electromechanical system, which also paves the way for atomic thin electronics and computing.

### 3.6. 2D piezotronics: interface gating and channel-width gating

The physical mechanism of the c-axis piezotronic transistor is interface gating by using inner-crystal piezoelectric polarization charges to modulate the M-S Schottky barrier via affecting the distribution of free carriers and realize active electronics. This is an interface effect. Nevertheless, new physical mechanism may generate or the original modulated effect can be enhanced when atomic thin materials meet the out-of-plane piezoelectricity and the electronic property. Different from the 1D nanowire and 2D films with in-plane piezoelectricity, axial stress/strain induced piezoelectric polarization charges will exist at all surfaces of the atomic thin materials with out-of-plane piezoelectricity, resulting in an enormous influence on the free carriers' concentration and distribution in all volume/area owing to their atomic thickness and strong out-of-plane piezoelectricity, which means channel-width gating and hence the volume effect can be



**Fig. 10.** ZnO twin nanoplatelet based piezotronic transistor (TNPT). a, Schematic illustration of TNPT. The red arrows represent the c-axis of ZnO twin nanoplatelet b, SEM images of ZnO twin nanoplatelet and piezoelectric coefficient ( $d_{33}$ ) of ZnO single and twin nanoplatelet acquired with different frequency. The scale bars indicate 1 µm. c, Band diagrams illustrate the working mechanism of TNPT. d, Electronic transport of TNPT under static pressures. e, The current response of TNPT under dynamic pressures. f,  $\ln(I)$ -*P* curve of TNPT showing a high pressure sensitivity.(For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.) Reprinted withpermission from [54]. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society.



**Fig. 11.** Characterization of ZnO nanosheet. a, Atomic force microscopy topography of a ZnO nanosheet. The scale bar represents 3 μm. b, High resolution transmission electron microscope (HRTEM) image of the ZnO nanosheet. The scale bar represents 1 nm. c, Electronic property of ZnO nanosheet. d–i, Amplitude images observed by contact piezo-response force microscopy technology. The scale bar represents 500 nm. j, Effective piezoelectric coefficient (*d*<sub>eff</sub>) obtained from d-i. Error bars indicate standard deviations. Reprinted with permission from [60]. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.



Fig. 12. Performance and working mechanism of atomic thin ZnO piezotronic transistor. a, Schematic illustration atomic thin ZnO piezotronic transistor. b, The electronic transport of atomic thin piezotronic transistor under static stresses. c, Band diagrams explaining the working mechanism of the device. d, Current response of atomic thin piezotronic transistor under static stresses.

Reprinted with permission from [60]. Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.

introduced in atomic thin material based piezotronic transistor and the gating effect should be significant [63].

The piezotronic transistors based on atomic thin p-ZnO nanosheet with c-axis perpendicular to the plane were packaged with polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA) (Fig. 13a). For the atomic thin piezotronic transistor, the electrical transport processes are effectively gated by the external mechanical signal, arising from the joint modulation of the piezoelectric polarization charges at M-S contacts and ZnO channel. The piezoelectric polarization charges at M-S contacts can effectively modulate the Schottky barrier height, which is the interface gating effect. The piezoelectric polarization charges created at surfaces of ZnO nanosheet can effectively control the width of conductive channel, resulting in the volumetric channelwidth gating effect. Using inner-crystal out-of-plane piezopotential in atomic thin materials as the gate signal to modulate the interface barrier height and control the width of conductive channel, and hence achieving the tunable electronics is 2D piezotronics [63].

The interface gating effect and channel-width gating effect in 2D piezotronic transistor are detailed separately as following: when compressive forces applied on electrodes, the piezoelectric polarization charges will be induced at M-S contacts, strongly affecting the concentration and distribution of free carriers near the M-S contact. Take p-ZnO as an example, the negative piezoelectric polarization charges are induced, attracting the holes near the interfaces, which will lower the Schottky barrier heights of the M-S contacts and hence enhance the electronic transport (Fig. 13b); When ZnO nanosheet channel subjected axial compressive stress/ strain, negative piezoelectric polarization charges are induced at top



**Fig. 13.** 2D piezotronics: interface gating and channel-width gating. a, 2D piezotronics: (left) Schematic illustration of ZnO nanosheet based piezotronic transistor under stress; (middle) The mechanism of 2D piezotronics; (right) Electronic transport of the device. b, Interfacing gating effect: (left) Schematic illustration of the device under force on the M-S contacts; (middle) Band diagrams explain the interface gating effect; (right) Electronic transport of the device under applied forces on the M-S contacts. c, Channel-width gating effect: (left) Schematic illustration of the device under applied force on the channel; (middle) Physical mechanism of channel-width gating effect; (right) Electronic transport of the device under applied force on the channel.

Reprinted with permission from [63]. Copyright 2019 Elsevier Ltd.

surface attracting the holes along c-axis direction, whereas the positive piezoelectric polarization charges are induced at bottom surface repelling the holes along c-axis direction, resulting a depletion region at the bottom of ZnO nanosheet. This depletion region will significantly reduce the ZnO channel width and hence weaken the electronic transport of the device (Fig. 13c).

In fact, the atomic thin ZnO nanosheet based piezotronic transistor is a kind of ultrathin a-axis piezotronic devices. The structure and mechanism of which is the same as that of previously reported a-axis piezotronic devices [64–67]. Different from the c-axis piezotronics, the a-axis piezoelectric semiconductor based piezotronics contains two gating effects: the interface gating effect, which uses piezoelectric polarization charges at M-S interface to modulate the Schottky barrier; and the volume gating effect, which uses piezoelectric polarization charges presented at upper and bottom surfaces of the conductive channel to control the channel width. The extensive studies in a-axis piezoelectric semiconductor further improve the theoretical framework and expand the applications of piezotronics (Fig. 14). However, the axial dimension of a-axis piezoelectric semiconductors used in previously reports such as GaN nanobelt is on the order of microns. Thus, the magnitude of channel-width gating effect may be affected to a certain degree. Different from that of 1D GaN nanobelt, the channelwidth gating effect in the ZnO nanosheet can be significantly enhanced due to its atomic thickness (~2 nanometers) and strong out-of-plane piezoelectricity. This study provides in-depth understandings about the piezotronics, which is the 2D piezotronics of interface gating and channel-width gating in atomic thin materials with strong out-of-plane piezoelectricity, paving the way for the applications of atomic thin materials with out-of-plane piezoelectricity and semiconducting property in novel nanodevices and nanosystems.



Fig. 14. Categories of piezotronics.

### 4. Comparison between traditional field effect transistor and piezotronic transistor

The piezotronic transistor is a fundamental device in piezotronics, which is completely different from, but still relates to the conventional metal-oxide-semiconductor-field-effect transistor (MOSFET). By comparing the piezotronic transistor with MOSFET, the differences between piezotronic transistor and MOSFET can be summarized as follows (Fig. 15). First, the conventional MOSFET or FET is a kind of three-terminal device controlled by the external voltage gating on the channel; whereas the piezotronic transistor is a new type of two-terminal device, which uses stress/strain induced inner-crystal piezo-potential to asymmetrically modulate local Schottky barrier at both

M-S terminals, or to gate on the channel width. The ON/OFF ratio of a piezotronic transistor can be rather high since the current transport across the M-S interface is the exponential of the reverse biased local barrier height. Second, the MOSFET/FET is mainly based on the first and second generation semiconductors such as Si, Ge, and GaAs; whereas the piezotronic transistor can be realized in almost any piezoelectric semiconductors, especially in the third-generation semiconductors such as ZnO and GaN. Recently it has also been extended to 2D TMDCs such as MoS<sub>2</sub> and WS<sub>2</sub>. Third, the operation speed of MOSFET or FET can be as fast as GHz, which is mainly used in electronics, logic circuits, computation, photonics *etc*; whereas the driving force of piezotronic transistor is mechanical stimuli of biological moment and environment, and hence the running speed of the device is relatively slow



**Fig. 15.** Comparison between traditional field-effect-transistor and piezotronic transistor. Reprinted with permission from [68]. Copyright 2013 American Chemical Society.

(Hz-MHz), which has important applications in active electronics, sensors, human-machine interface, robotics *etc.* On the other hand, combining the physical mechanism of piezotronics with other intriguing processes can stimulate some new researches such as piezo-phototronics [69–71], flexotronics [72], hybrid-spintronics *etc* [73,74]. Based on the above analysis, piezotronic transistor is a new type of transistor designed using interface piezoelectric polarization engineering, which is likely to have complementary applications to conversional CMOS technology.

### 5. Expansion of piezotronic effect (piezotronics) to flexotronic effect (flexotronics)

## 5.1. Flexotronic effect and flexotronics in centrosymmetric semiconductors

Piezotronics has attracted much attention as promising approaches for energy harvesting, active electronics and intelligent sensing. However, it is only effective in semiconductors with special non-centrosymmetric crystal structures, such as wurtzite structured ZnO and GaN, which greatly limits their applications in centrosymmetric-structured semiconductors, such as Si and GaAs based the first- and second-generation semiconductors. Thus, we wondered whether there was a way that could expand the piezotronic effect into centrosymmetric semiconductors. As we know, flexoelectricity is an electromechanical property that enables mechanical manipulation of polarization by coupling between the local electrical polarization and the strain-gradient in dielectrics. The strain-gradient can break any materials' inversion symmetry owing to distorted crystal structure by strain, resulting in a polarization with a preferred direction and enabling a piezoelectric-like response but containing no piezoelectric elements [75-81]. Previous studies on flexoelectricity are mainly focus on the nanoscale dielectric insulators to produce large strain-gradient and relatively strong flexoelectric polarization for applications in actuators [82], transducers [83] and ferroelectric polarization control [84]. However, it has not yet been explored in centrosymmetric semiconductors.

Coupling the flexoelectricity and electronic transport property in centrosymmetric semiconductors, a novel electronic regulation mechanism of *flexotronics* was observed, which uses inner-crystal flexoelectric polarization potential produced by asymmetry-strain-induced asymmetric lattice change in semiconductors to modulate local Schottky barrier height of the M-S and achieve tunable electronics [72]. It has no restriction to the crystal structures, doping type and dimensions, and can be realized in any types of semiconductors, largely expanding flexoelectricity into the most popular Si, Ge and GaAs based first and second-generation semiconductors used in today's industry (Fig. 16b and c). The schematic diagram illustrates the concept and mechanism of *flexotronics* (Fig. 16a). Owing to the flexoelectric effect, the flexoelectric polarization field can be induced in a semiconductor upon an inhomogeneous strain/stress. Due to the large local inhomogeneous strain, the polarization field not only exists on the surface of the crystal, but also distributes inside the crystal within a certain length/volume, which has an enormous influence on the concentration and distribution of free carriers at the interface region and inner crystal (Fig. 16a(i)), correspondingly resulting in the interfacing band-structure engineering and the inner-crystal band-structure engineering (Fig. 16a(ii)). In general, the negative flexoelectric polarization charges generated at semiconductor region can repel electrons to the M-S interface, while attracting holes near the interface, resulting in upward bending of the energy band. Hence, the strain-gradient-induced flexoelectric polarization field can effectively modulate the height and width of M-S Schottky barrier, thereby controlling the transport of charge carriers, which is analogous to the piezotronic

effect [16,17,21–28]. The magnitude and polarity of the flexoelectric polarization field within a semiconductor depend on the magnitude and polarity of the local inhomogeneous stress/strain. Here we call it flexotronic effect, which is widely exists in almost any semiconductors. Using inner-crystal flexoelectric polarization (hence the flexoelectric potential) as the gate to modulate the M-S Schottky barrier and achieve tunable electronics is the flexotronics. The operation principle is fundamentally new, which uses mechanical actuation directly generated digital signals to control all semiconductor-based electronics.

Giant flexotronic effect has been demonstrated in bulk centrosymmetric semiconductors of Si,  $TiO_2$  and Nb-SrTiO<sub>3</sub>, which exhibits a high strain sensitivity with a gauge factor > 2650 [72]. Specifically, it can be used to mechanically switch the electronics in the nanoscale volume of semiconductors with a fast response of ~4 ms and high resolution of ~0.78 nm by using dynamic flexoelectric polarization field (Fig. 17). This research expands the piezotronics into the Si, Ge and GaAs based first and second-generation semiconductors, and gives a brand new strain-modulated electronics in centrosymmetric semiconductor, which fundamentally paves the way for polarization-controlled semiconductor-based electronics.

#### 5.2. Relationship between piezotronic effect and flexotronic effect

The flexotronic effect is closely related to, but is different from the piezotronic effect [72]. The differences and relationship between the two effects can be summarized as follows. First, both of the effects are normally interface gating effect, which both uses the polarization charges (and hence the polarization potential) to asymmetrically modulates interface barriers of M-S at source and drain (Fig. 18). Second, the piezotronic effect generally only exists in piezoelectric semiconductors, such as wurtzite structured ZnO and GaN based third-generation semiconductors, regardless of whether there is a strain-gradient. Nevertheless, the flexotronic effect is universal in any type semiconductors (including the first and second-generation semiconductors) regardless their crystal structures, the driving force of which is inhomogeneous stress or strain. Third, the magnitude of piezoelectric polarization in piezoelectric materials is normally stronger than the flexoelectric polarization in centrosymmetric materials so that the magnitude of tuning by piezotronic effect could be much more effective than that of flexotronic effect. Fourth, the strain/stress-induced piezoelectric polarization charges only exist at polar surfaces of the piezoelectric materials within one to two atomic layer thickness, whereas the inhomogeneous stress/strain induced flexoelectric polarization distributes in the semiconductor within a certain length or volume (several nanometers to tens of nanometers), and hence its modulating effect is not limited at the interface but over length. Thus, the flexotronic effect seems to be an "integration" of many piezotronic segments, which is similar to the integration and differentiation in calculus. Compared with the interface gating of piezotronics (including c-axis piezotronic device and a-axis piezotronic device), the flexotronic effect in the tip/surface model can be considered as a length/volume effect, whereas it is still an interface effect relative to the scale of bulk centrosymmetric semiconductor. So in essence, the flexotronic effect is not absolute volume effect, which is completely different from the volume effect of channel-width gating in a-axis piezotronic device. Finally, it should be emphasized that those materials with a piezotronic effect also can display a flexotronic effect.

#### 6. Summary and outlook

Piezotronic transistor is new type of two-terminal device, the basic principle of which is to use inner-crystal piezoelectric polarization charges (hence the piezoelectric potential) in semiconductor



Fig. 16. Flexotronics in centrosymmetric semiconductors. a, Schematics showing the concept and mechanism of flexotronics: M-S interface band-structure engineering and inner crystal band-structure engineering by flexoelectric polarization. Flexoelectricity in silicon under a tip-force model: theoretical simulated strain distribution (b) and the corresponding flexoelectric polarization distribution (c). Arrows in (c) represent the magnitude and polarity of the polarization. Reprinted with permission from [72]. Copyright 2020 Nature Publishing Group.



**Fig. 17.** Dynamic flexotronics in nanometer scale. a, b, Schematics illustrating the mechanical 2D scanning processes. c, e, g, i, k, Current mappings in centrosymmetric semiconductors of Si, TiO<sub>2</sub> and Nb-SrTiO<sub>3</sub> (NSTO) under increased loading forces. The scale bars represent 50 nm. d, f, h, j, i, The corresponding absolute average current variations versus loading forces calculated from statistical distributions of the current mappings (c, e, g, i, k). Error bars indicate the standard deviations. Reprinted with permission from [72]. Copyright 2020 Nature Publishing Group.

region as a gate voltage to control the electronic transport, which has been widely demonstrated for wurtzite-structured semiconductors, especially the third-generation semiconductors. Such devices are innovatively using inner interface gating or inner channel-width gating instead of the traditional external channel-width gating. The role played by a piezotronic transistor in humanmachine interface technology is similar to the mechanical sensation in physiology, which is the mechanism of response to mechanical stimulation. Converting mechanical stimuli into neuronal signals is the physiological basis for the senses of tactile, hearing or balance. The fundamentals of piezotronic transistors and their applications in adaptive tactile sensing, ultrasensitive sensing, atomic thin electronics *etc.* have been systematically reviewed in this paper. In addition to this, significant progress has been made using piezotronic transistors in other applications such as memory devices [85], logic circuits [86], neural signal simulations [87], topological application [88] *etc.* 

Piezotronics is an emerging field by coupling of piezoelectricity and charge carriers transport in piezoelectric semiconductors. Piezotronic effect and piezotronics widely exist in the third-generation semiconductors (ZnO, GaN, *etc.*) and two-dimensional transition metal dichalcogenides (MoS<sub>2</sub>, WS<sub>2</sub>, *etc.*), which is an inherent effect in these materials. In this review, new understandings of piezotronics have been proposed: first, piezotronic effect is still effective in ultra-short channel length (~2 nm) based atomic thin nanodevice; second, 2D piezotronics in both inner interface gating and inner channel-width gating in 2D materials with out-of-plane piezoelectricity has been proposed; third, piezotronic effect (piezotronics) has been expanded to flexotronic effect (flexotronics), largely expanding the piezotronics into the centrosymmetric



Fig. 18. Relationship between piezotronic effect and flexotronic effect. Expand the piezotronic effect to the flexotronic effect, which introduces the piezotronic effect into centrosymmetric semiconductors including Si, GaAs based first and second-generation semiconductors. Copyright 2020 Nature Publishing Group. Reprinted with permission from [72]. Copyright 2020 Nature Publishing Group.

semiconductors, especially the Si, Ge and GaAs based first and second-generation semiconductors.

During last 13 years, piezotronics have made great applications in energy harvesting (enhanced solar technology [89–95], catalysis [96–101]), electronics (self-powered nanodevice [43] active electronics [60,63,109]) and intelligent sensing (adaptive tactile sensing [46], LED [102–108], human-machine interface), and are likely to have important applications in MEMS, nanorobotics, artificial intelligence (Fig. 19). Coupling between the piezotronics and other intriguing processes can also stimulate some new researches such as hybrid-spintronics and flexotronics. Nevertheless, to further develop the field of piezotronics, in-depth understanding of physics, quantum mechanical calculations, and advanced technological implementations are needed.



Fig. 19. Applications of piezotronic transistors and piezotronics.

### **CRediT authorship contribution statement**

**Longfei Wang:** Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. **Zhong Lin Wang:** Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing-review & editing, Funding acquisition.

### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the National Key R&D Project from Minister of Science and Technology (2016YFA0202704), Beijing Municipal Science and Technology Commission (Z171100000317001, Z171100002017017, Y3993113DF), and National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Nos. 11704032, 51432005, 5151101243, 51561145021).

### References

- P. Bonato, Wearable sensors and systems, IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Mag. 29 (2010) 25–36.
- D.H. Kim, N.S. Lu, R. Ma, Y.S. Kim, R.H. Kim, S.D. Wang, J. Wu, S.M. Won, H. Tao, A. Islam, K.J. Yu, T.I. Kim, R. Chowdhury, M. Ying, L.Z. Xu, M. Li, H.J. Chung, H. Keum, M. McCormick, P. Liu, Y.W. Zhang, F.G. Omenetto, Y.G. Huang, T. Coleman, J.A. Rogers, Epidermal electronics, Science 333 (2011) 838–843.
   A. Javey, J. Guo, Q. Wang, M. Lundstrom, H.J. Dai, Ballistic carbon nanotube
- [3] A. Javey, J. Guo, Q. Wang, M. Lundstrom, H.J. Dai, Ballistic carbon nanotube field-effect transistors, Nature 424 (2003) 654–657.
- [4] B. Radisavljevic, A. Radenovic, J. Brivio, V. Giacometti, A. Kis, Single-layer MoS2 transistors, Nat. Nanotech. 6 (2011) 147–150.
- [5] Y. Cui, C.M. Lieber, Functional nanoscale electronic devices assembled using silicon nanowire building blocks, Science 291 (2001) 851–853.
- [6] K.S. Novoselov, A.K. Geim, S.V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S.V. Dubonos, I.V. Grigorieva1, A.A. Firsov, Electric field effect in atomically thin carbon films, Science 306 (2004) 666–669.
- [7] K. Takei, K. Takei, T. Takahashi, J.C. Ho, H. Ko, A.G. Gillies, P.W. Leu, R.S. Fearing, A. Javey, Nanowire active-matrix circuitry for low-voltage macroscale artificial skin, Nat. Mater. 9 (2010) 821–826.
- [8] S.C.B. Mannsfeld, B.C.-K. Tee, R.M. Stoltenberg, C.V.H.-H. Chen, S. Barman, B.V.O. Muir, A.N. Sokolov, C. Reese, Z. Bao, Highly sensitive flexible pressure sensors with microstructured rubber dielectric layers, Nat. Mater. 9 (2010) 859–864.

- [9] T. Someya, T. Sekitani, S. Iba, Y. Kato, H. Kawaguchi, T. Sakurai, A large-area, flexible pressure sensor matrix with organic field-effect transistors for artificial skin applications, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci U. S. A . 101 (2004) 9966–9970.
   [10] D.H. Kim, D.H. Kim, J.H. Ahn, W.M. Choi, H.S. Kim, T. Kim, J. Song, Y.Y. Huang,
- [10] D.H. Kim, D.H. Kim, J.H. Ahn, W.M. Choi, H.S. Kim, T. Kim, J. Song, Y.Y. Huang, Z. Liu, C. Lu, J.A. Rogers, Stretchable and foldable silicon integrated circuits, Science 320 (2008) 507–511.
- [11] R. Araneo, F. Bini, A. Rinaldi, A. Notargiacomo, M. Pea, S. Celozzi, Thermalelectric model for piezoelectric ZnO nanowires, Nanotechnology 26 (2015) 265402.
- [12] R. Araneo, F. Bini, M. Pea, A. Notargiacomo, A. Rinaldi, G. Lovat, S. Celozzi, Current–voltage characteristics of ZnO nanowires under uniaxial loading, IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol. 13 (2014) 724–735.
- [13] R. Araneo, A. Rinaldi, A. Notargiacomo, F. Bini, M. Pea, S. Celozzi, F. Marinozzi, G. Lovat, Design concepts, fabrication and advanced characterization methods of innovative piezoelectric sensors based on ZnO nanowires, Sensors 14 (2014) 23539–23562.
- [14] X.D. Wang, J. Zhou, J.H. Song, J. Liu, N.S. Xu, Z.L. Wang, Piezoelectric field effect transistor and nanoforce sensor based on a single ZnO nanowire, Nano Lett. 6 (2006) 2768–2772.
- [15] J.H. He, C.H. Hsin, LJ. Chen, Z.L. Wang, Piezoelectric gated diode of a single ZnO nanowire, Adv. Mater. 19 (2007) 781–784.
- [16] Z.L. Wang, Nanopiezotronics, Adv. Mater. 19 (2007) 889–892.
- [17] Z.L. Wang, The new field of nanopiezotronics, Mater. Today 10 (2007) 20–28.
- [18] J. Zhou, P. Fei, Y. Gu, W. Mai, Y. Gao, R. Yang, G. Bao, Z.L. Wang, Piezoelectricpotential-controlled polarity-reversible schottky diodes and switches of ZnO wires, Nano Lett. 8 (2008) 3973–3977.
- [19] Z.L. Wang, Towards self-powered nanosystems: from nanogenerators to nanopiezotronics, Adv. Funct. Mater. 18 (2008) 3553–3567.
- [20] Z.L. Wang, Piezopotential gated nanowire devices: piezotronics and piezophototronics, Nano Today 5 (2010) 540–552.
- [21] Z.L. Wang, Piezotronics and Piezo-Phototronics, Springer, New York, 2013.
- [22] Z.L. Wang, W. Wen, C. Falconi, Piezotronics and piezo-phototronics with thirdgeneration semiconductors, MRS Bull. 43 (2018) 922–927.
- [23] Y. Zhang, Y. Liu, Z.L. Wang, Fundamental Theory of Piezotronics, Adv. Mater. 23 (2011) 3004–3013.
- [24] Y. Zhang, Y. Leng, M. Willatzen, B. Huang, Theory of piezotronics and piezophototronics, MRS Bull. 43 (2018) 928–935.
- [25] Z.L. Wang, Progress in Piezotronics and Piezo-Phototronics, Adv. Mater. 24 (2012) 4632-4646.
- [26] Z.L. Wang, W.Z. Wu, Piezotronics and piezo-phototronics: fundamentals and applications, Natl. Sci. Rev. 1 (2014) 62–90.
- [27] W.Z. Wu, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronics and piezo-phototronics for adaptive electronics and optoelectronics, Nat. Rev. Mater. 1 (2016) 16031.
- [28] C. Pan, J. Zhai, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronics and piezo-phototronics of third generation semiconductor nanowires, Chem. Rev. 119 (2019) 9303–9359.
- [29] Z.L. Wang, Splendid one-dimensional nanostructures of zinc oxide: a new nanomaterial family for nanotechnology, ACS Nano 2 (2008) 1987–1992.
- [30] R.S. Yang, Z.L. Wang, Growth of self-assembled ZnO nanowire arrays, Philos. Mag. 87 (2007) 2097–2104.
- [31] Z.L. Wang, Nanostructures of zinc oxide, Mater. Today 7 (2004) 26–33.
- [32] X.Y. Kong, Y. Ding, R.S. Yang, Z.L. Wang, Single-crystal nanorings formed by epitaxial self-coiling of polar nanobelts, Science 303 (2004) 1348–1351.
- [33] Z.L. Wang, Piezoelectric nanostructures: from growth phenomena to electric nanogenerators, MRS Bull. 32 (2007) 109–116.
- [34] Z.L. Wang, ZnO nanowire and nanobelt platform for nanotechnology, Mater. Sci. Eng. R Rep. 64 (2009) 33–71.
- [35] Z.L. Wang, R. Yang, J. Zhou, Y. Qin, C. Xu, Y. Hu, S. Xu, Lateral nanowire/nanobelt based nanogenerators, piezotronics and piezo-phototronics, Mater. Sci. Eng. R. Rep. 70 (2010) 320–329.
- [36] E.H. Rhoderick, R. Williams, Metal-Semiconductor Contacts, Clarendon Press, Oxford, UK, 1988.
- [37] S.M. Sze, K.K. Ng, Physics of Semiconductor Devices, third ed., John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2006.
- [38] P.W. Bridgman, The effect of homogeneous mechanical stress on the electrical resistance of crystals, Phys. Rev. 42 (1932) 858–863.
- [39] C.S. Smith, Piezoresistance effect in germanium and silicon, Phys. Rev. 94 (1954) 42–49.
- [40] X. Wang, R. Yu, C. Jiang, W. Hu, W. Wu, Y. Ding, W. Peng, S. Li, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronic effect modulated heterojunction electron gas in AlGaN/AlN/GaN heterostructure microwire, Adv. Mater. 28 (2016) 7234–7242.
- [41] J. Millán, P. Godignon, X. Perpiñà, A. Pérez-Tomás, J. Rebollo, A survey of wide bandgap power semiconductor devices, IEEE Trans. Power Electron 29 (2014) 2155–2163.
- [42] W.Z. Wu, L. Wang, Y.L. Li, F. Zhang, L. Lin, S.M. Niu, D. Chenet, X. Zhang, Y.F. Hao, T.F. Heinz, J. Hone, Z.L. Wang, Piezoelectricity of single-atomic-layer MoS2 for energy conversion and piezotronics, Nature 514 (2014) 470–474.
- [43] W.Z. Wu, X.N. Wen, Z.L. Wang, Taxel-addressable matrix of vertical-nanowire piezotronic transistors for active and adaptive tactile imaging, Science 340 (2013) 952–957.
- [44] W. Han, Y. Zhou, Y. Zhang, C. Chen, L. Lin, X. Wang, S. Wang, Z.L. Wang, Straingated piezotronic transistors based on vertical zinc oxide nanowires, ACS Nano 6 (2012) 3760–3766.
- [45] S.A. Mascaro, H.H. Asada, Photoplethysmograph fingernail sensors for measuring finger forces without haptic obstruction, IEEE Trans. Robot. Autom. 17 (2001) 698–708.

- [46] S. Liu, L. Wang, X. Feng, Z. Wang, O. Xu, S. Bai, Y. Qin, Z.L. Wang, Ultrasensitive 2D ZnO piezotronic transistor array for high resolution tactile imaging, Adv. Mater. 29 (2017) 1606346.
- [47] L.D. Landau, E.M. Lifschitz, Theory of Elasticity, second ed., Pergamon Press, Oxford, UK, 1970.
- L. Wang, S. Liu, Z. Wang, Y. Zhou, Y. Qin, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronic effect enhanced [48] photocatalysis in strained anisotropic ZnO/TiO2 nanoplatelets via thermal stress, ACS Nano 10 (2016) 2636–2643.
- Y.S. Zhou, K. Wang, W. Han, S.C. Rai, Y. Zhang, Y. Ding, C. Pan, F. Zhang, W. Zhou, [49] Z.L. Wang, Vertically aligned CdSe nanowire arrays for energy harvesting and piezotronic devices, ACS Nano 6 (2012) 6478-6482.
- [50] C. Pan, L. Dong, G. Zhu, S. Niu, R. Yu, Q. Yang, Y. Liu, Z.L. Wang, High-resolution electroluminescent imaging of pressure distribution using a piezoelectric nanowire LED array, Nat. Photon 7 (2013) 752–758.
- [51] X. Han, W. Du, M. Chen, X. Wang, X. Zhang, X. Li, J. Li, Z. Peng, C. Pan, Z.L. Wang, Visualization recording and storage of pressure distribution through a smart matrix based on the piezotronic effect, Adv. Mater. 29 (2017) 1701253.
- Z. Zhao, X. Pu, C. Han, C. Du, L. Li, C. Jiang, W. Hu, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronic effect in [52] polarity-controlled GaN nanowires, ACS Nano 9 (2015) 8578-8583.
- [53] S. Liu, L. Wang, Z. Wang, Y. Cai, X. Feng, Y. Qin, Z.L. Wang, Double-channel piezotronic transistors for highly sensitive pressure sensing, ACS Nano . 12 (2018) 1732–1738.
- [54] L. Wang, S. Liu, X. Feng, Q. Xu, S. Bai, L. Zhu, L. Chen, Y. Qin, Z.L. Wang, Ultrasensitive vertical piezotronic transistor based on ZnO twin nanoplatelet, ACS Nano 11 (2017) 4859-4865.
- [55] A.D. Franklin, Nanomaterials in transistors: from high-performance to thin-film applications, Science 349 (2015) aab2750.
- [56] M.M. Shulaker, G. Hills, N. Patil, H. Wei, H. Chen, H.-S.P. Wong, S. Mitra, Carbon nanotube computer, Nature 501 (2013) 526-530.
- [57] Q. Cao, J. Tersoff, D.B. Farmer, Y. Zhu, S.J. Han, Carbon nanotube transistors scaled to a 40-nanometer footprint, Science 356 (2017) 1369-1372.
- [58] C. Qiu, Z. Zhang, M. Xiao, Y. Yang, D. Zhong, L.M. Peng, Scaling carbon nanotube complementary transistors to 5-nm gate lengths, Science 355 (2017) 271-276.
- [59] X.F. Duan, C.M. Niu, V. Sahi, J. Chen, J.W. Parce, S. Empedocles, J.L. Goldman, High-performance thin-film transistors using semiconductor nanowires and nanoribbons, Nature 425 (2003) 274–278.
- [60] L. Wang, S. Liu, G. Gao, Y. Pang, X. Yin, X. Feng, L. Zhu, Y. Bai, L. Chen, T. Xiao, X. Wang, Y. Qin, Z.L. Wang, Ultrathin piezotronic transistors with 2 nm channel lengths, ACS Nano 12 (2018) 4903-4908.
- [61] F. Wang, J.H. Seo, G.F. Luo, M.B. Starr, Z.D. Li, D.L. Geng, X. Yin, S.Y. Wang, D.G. Fraser, D. Morgan, Z.Q. Ma, X.D. Wang, Nanometre-thick single-crystalline nanosheets grown at the water-air interface, Nat. Commun. 7 (2016) 10444.
- X. Wang, X. He, H. Zhu, Li Sun, W. Fu, X. Wang, L.C. Hoong, H. Wang, Q. Zeng, [62] W. Zhao, J. Wei, Z. Jin, Z. Shen, J. Liu, T. Zhang, Z. Liu, Sci. Adv. 2 (2016) e1600209
- L. Wang, S. Liu, Z. Zhang, X. Feng, L. Zhu, H. Guo, W. Ding, L. Chen, Y. Qin, [63] Z.L. Wang, 2D piezotronics in atomically thin zinc oxide sheets: Interfacing gating and channel width gating, Nano Energy 60 (2019) 724–733. S.J. Gao, Y.X. Wang, R.X. Wang, W.Z. Wu, Piezotronic effect in 1D van der Waals
- [64] solid of elemental tellurium nanobelt for smart adaptive electronics, Semicond. Sci. Technol. 32 (2017) 104004.
- [65] R. Yu, X. Wang, W. Peng, W. Wu, Y. Ding, S. Li, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronic effect in strain-gated transistor ofa-axis GaN nanobelt, ACS Nano 9 (2015) 9822–9829.
- [66] X. Wang, R. Yu, W. Peng, W. Wu, S. Li, Z.L. Wang, Temperature dependence of the piezotronic and piezophototronic effects ina-axis GaN nanobelts, Adv. Mater. 27 (2015) 8067-8074.
- [67] X. Wang, W. Peng, C. Pan, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronics and piezo-phototronics based ona-axis nano/microwires: fundamentals and applications, Semicond. Sci. Technol. 32 (2017) 043005.
- [68] R. Yu, W. Wu, Y. Ding, Z.L. Wang, GaN nanobelt-based strain-gated piezotronic logic devices and computation, ACS Nano 7 (2013) 6403-6409.
- Y. Hu, Y. Chang, P. Fei, R.L. Snyder, Z.L. Wang, Designing the electric transport [69] characteristics of ZnO micro/nanowire devices by coupling piezoelectric and photoexcitation effects, ACS Nano 4 (2010) 1234-1240.
- [70] Q. Yang, X. Guo, W. Wang, Y. Zhang, S. Xu, D.H. Lien, Z.L. Wang, Enhancing sensitivity of a single ZnO micro-/nanowire photodetector by piezo-phototronic effect, ACS Nano 4 (2010) 6285-6291.
- [71] Q. Yang, W. Wang, S. Xu, Z.L. Wang, Enhancing light emission of ZnO microwirebased diodes by piezo-phototronic effect, Nano Lett. 11 (2011) 4012–4017.
- L. Wang, S. Liu, X. Feng, C. Zhang, L. Zhu, J. Zhai, Y. Qin, Z. Lin Wang, [72] Flexoelectronics of centrosymmetric semiconductors, Nat. Nanotechnol. 15 (2020) 661-667.
- [73] L. Zhu, Y. Zhang, P. Lin, Y. Wang, L. Yang, L. Chen, L. Wang, B. Chen, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronic effect on rashba spin-orbit coupling in a ZnO/P3HT nanowire array structure, ACS Nano 12 (2018) 1811–1820.
- [74] L. Zhu, Q. Lai, W. Zhai, B. Chen, Z.L. Wang, Piezo-phototronic effect enhanced polarization-sensitive photodetectors based on cation-mixed organic-inorganic perovskite nanowires, Mater. Today 37 (2020) 56-63, https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.mattod.2020.02.018
- [75] A. Abdollahi, F. Vasquez-Sancho, G. Catalan, Piezoelectric mimicry of flexoelectricity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 205502.
- [76] S.M. Kogan, Sov. Phys. Solid State 5 (1964) 2069–2070.
- [77] E. Bursian, O.I. Zaikovskii, Sov. Phys. Solid State 10 (1968) 1121.
  [78] D. Lee, A. Yoon, S.Y. Jang, J.-G. Yoon, J.-S. Chung, M. Kim, J.F. Scott, T.W. Noh, Giant flexoelectric effect in ferroelectric epitaxial thin films, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 057602.

- [79] X. Zhang, O. Pan, D. Tian, W. Zhou, P. Chen, H. Zhang, B. Chu, Large flexoelectriclike response from the spontaneously polarized surfaces in ferroelectric ceramics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 057602. G. Catalan, A. Lubk, A.H.G. Vlooswijk, E. Snoeck, C. Magen, A. Janssens,
- [80] G. Rispens, G. Rijnders, D.H.A. Blank, B. Noheda, Flexoelectric rotation of polarization in ferroelectric thin films, Nat. Mater. 10 (2011) 963-967.
- [81] U.K. Bhaskar, N. Banerjee, A. Abdollahi, Z. Wang, D.G. Schlom, G. Rijnders, G.A. Catalan, A flexoelectric microelectromechanical system on silicon. Nat. Nanotech. 11 (2016) 263-266.
- X. Wen, D. Li, K. Tan, Q. Deng, S.P. Shen, Flexoelectret: an electret with a tunable [82] flexoelectriclike response, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 148001.
- [83] J. Narvaez, F. Vasquez-Sancho, G. Catalan, Enhanced flexoelectric-like response in oxide semiconductors, Nature 538 (2016) 219-221.
- [84] H. Lu, C.-W. Bark, D. Esque de los Ojos, J. Alcala, C.B. Eom, G. Catalan, A. Gruverman, Mechanical writing of ferroelectric polarization, Science 336 (2012) 59-61.
- [85] W. Wu, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronic nanowire-based resistive switches as programmable electromechanical memories, Nano Lett. 11 (2011) 2779–2785.
- [86] W. Wu, Y. Wei, Z.L. Wang, Strain-gated piezotronic logic nanodevices, Adv. Mater. 22 (2010) 4711-4715.
- Q. Hua, X. Cui, H. Liu, C. Pan, W. Hu, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronic synapse based on a [87] single GaN microwire for artificial sensory systems, Nano Lett. 20 (2020) 3761-3768.
- [88] G. Hu, Y. Zhang, L. Li, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronic transistor based on topological insulators, ACS Nano 12 (2018) 779-785.
- [89] J. Shi, P. Zhao, X. Wang, Piezoelectric-polarization-enhanced photovoltaic performance in depleted-heterojunction guantum-dot solar cells, Adv. Mater. 25 (2013) 916-921.
- [90] C. Jiang, L. Jing, X. Huang, M. Liu, C. Du, T. Liu, X. Pu, W. Hu, Z.L. Wang, Enhanced solar cell conversion efficiency of InGaN/GaN multiple quantum wells by piezophototronic effect, ACS Nano 11 (2017) 9405-9412.
- [91] Y. Yang, W. Guo, Y. Zhang, Y. Ding, X. Wang, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronic effect on the output voltage of P3HT/ZnO micro/nanowire heterojunction solar cells, Nano Lett. 11 (2011) 4812-4817.
- [92] S. Qiao, J. Liu, G. Fu, K. Ren, Z. Li, S. Wang, C. Pan, ZnO nanowire based CIGS solar cell and its efficiency enhancement by the piezo-phototronic effect, Nano Energy 49 (2018) 508-514.
- [93] L. Zhu, L. Wang, C. Pan, L. Chen, F. Xue, B. Chen, L. Yang, L. Su, Z.L. Wang, Enhancing the efficiency of silicon-based solar cells by the piezo-phototronic effect, ACS Nano 11 (2017) 1894-1900.
- C. Pan, S. Niu, Y. Ding, L. Dong, R. Yu, Y. Liu, G. Zhu, Z.L. Wang, Enhanced Cu2S/ [94] CdS coaxial nanowire solar cells by piezo-phototronic effect, Nano Lett. 12 (2012) 3302-3307.
- [95] L. Zhu, L. Wang, F. Xue, L. Chen, J. Fu, X. Feng, T. Li, Z.L. Wang, Piezo-phototronic effect enhanced flexible solar cells based on n-ZnO/p-SnS core-shell nanowire array, Adv. Sci. 4 (2017) 1600185.
- [96] H. Li, Y. Sang, S. Chang, X. Huang, Y. Zhang, R. Yang, H. Jiang, H. Liu, Z.L. Wang, Enhanced ferroelectric-nanocrystal-based hybrid photocatalysis by ultrasonicwave-generated piezophototronic effect, Nano Lett. 15 (2015) 2372-2379.
- [97] J.M. Wu, W.E. Chang, Y.T. Chang, C.K. Chang, Piezo-Catalytic effect on the enhancement of the ultra-high degradation activity in the dark by single- and few-layers MoS2nanoflowers, Adv. Mater. 28 (2016) 3718-3725.
- [98] X.Y. Chen, L.F. Liu, Y.W. Feng, L.F. Wang, Z.F. Bian, H.X. Li, Z.L. Wang, Fluid eddy induced piezo-promoted photodegradation of organic dye pollutants in wastewater on ZnO nanorod arrays/3D Ni foam, Mater. Today 20 (2017) 501-506.
- Y.L. Liu, J.M. Wu, Synergistically catalytic activities of BiFeO3/TiO2 core-shell [99] nanocomposites for degradation of organic dye molecule through piezophototronic effect, Nano Energy 56 (2019) 74-81.
- [100] Z.R. Liu, L.W. Wang, X. Yu, J. Zhang, R.Q. Yang, X.D. Zhang, Y.C. Ji, M.Q. Wu, L. Deng, L.L. Li, Z.L. Wang, Piezoelectric-effect-enhanced full-spectrum photoelectrocatalysis in p-n heterojunction, Adv. Funct. Mater. 29 (2019) 1807279.
- [101] S.Y. Xu, L.M. Guo, Q.J. Sun, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronic effect enhanced plasmonic photocatalysis by AuNPs/BaTiO3heterostructures, Adv. Funct. Mater. 29 (2019) 1808737.
- [102] S. Xu, C. Xu, Y. Liu, Y.F. Hu, R.S. Yang, Q. Yang, J.H. Ryou, H.J. Kim, Z. Lochner, . Choi, R. Dupuis, Z.L. Wang, Ordered nanowire array blue/near-UV light emitting diodes, Adv. Mater. 22 (2010) 4749-4753.
- [103] X. Han, W.M. Du, R.M. Yu, C.F. Pan, Z.L. Wang, Piezo-phototronic enhanced UV sensing based on a nanowire photodetector array, Adv. Mater. 27 (2015) 7963-7969.
- [104] W. Wu, X. Wang, X. Han, Z. Yang, G. Gao, Y. Zhang, J. Hu, Y. Tan, A. Pan, C. Pan, Flexible photodetector arrays based on patterned ch3nh3pbi3-xclxperovskite film for real-time photosensing and imaging, Adv. Mater. 31 (2019) 1805913.
- [105] C. Pan, M. Chen, R. Yu, Q. Yang, Y. Hu, Y. Zhang, Z.L. Wang, Progress in piezophototronic-effect-enhanced light-emitting diodes and pressure imaging, Adv. Mater. 28 (2016) 1535–1552.
- [106] Y. Peng, M. Que, H.E. Lee, R. Bao, X. Wang, J. Lu, Z. Yuan, X. Li, J. Tao, J. Sun, J. Zhai, K.J. Lee, C. Pan, Achieving high-resolution pressure mapping via flexible GaN/ ZnO nanowire LEDs array by piezo-phototronic effect, Nano Energy 58 (2019) 633-640.
- [107] X.Y. Li, M.X. Chen, R.M. Yu, T.P. Zhang, D.S. Song, R.R. Liang, Q.L. Zhang, S.B. Cheng, L. Dong, A.L. Pan, Z.L. Wang, J. Zhu, C. Pan, Enhancing light emission of ZnO-nanofilm/Si-micropillar heterostructure arrays by piezo-phototronic effect, Adv. Mater. 27 (2015) 4447–4453. [108] M. Chen, C. Pan, T. Zhang, X. Li, R. Liang, Z.L. Wang, Tuning light emission of a
- pressure-sensitive silicon/ZnO nanowires heterostructure matrix through piezo-phototronic effects, ACS Nano 10 (2016) 6074-6079.

[109] S. Liu, L. Wang, X. Feng, J. Liu, Y. Qin, Z.L. Wang, Piezotronic tunneling junction gated by mechanical stimuli, Adv. Mater. 31 (2019) 1905436.



**Longfei Wang** received his B.S. in Materials Science and Engineering from China University of Geosciences (Beijing) at 2012 and Ph.D. in Nanoscience and Technology from Beijing Institute of Nanoenergy and Nanosystems, Chinese Academy of Sciences at 2017. He is now a postdoctoral fellow at Georgia Institute of Technology. His current research focuses on the piezoelectricity, pyroelectricity, ferroelectricity and flexoelectricity in semiconductors for nanogenerators, piezotronics, piezo-phototronics and flexotronics.



#### Nano Today 37 (2021) 101108

**Zhong Lin Wang** is the Hightower Chair in Materials Science and Engineering, Regents' Professor, Engineering Distinguished Professor and Director at Georgia Tech. His discovery and breakthroughs in developing nanogenerators established the principle and technological road map for harvesting mechanical energy from environment and biological systems for powering personal electronics. His research on self-powered nanosystems has inspired the worldwide effort in academia and industry for studying energy for micro-nano-systems, which is now a distinct disciplinary in energy research and future sensor networks. He coined and pioneered the field of piezotronics and piezo-phototronics in fabricating new electronic and optoelectronic devices.